STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROY L. JONES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001639

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROY L. JONES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001639

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the court abuse its discretion by qualifying Shauna Galloway-Williams as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics where there was insufficient evidence of the reliability of the subject matter of her testimony and whether those matters had ever been subjected to peer review?

2.

Did the court abuse its discretion by qualifying Shauna Galloway-Williams as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics where the subject matter of her testimony was well within the realm of lay knowledge, was highly prejudicial to Appellant, and improperly bolstered the complainants' credibility?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the June 24, 2014 term of General Sessions for two counts of first degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor, four counts of second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, two counts of lewd act upon a child, and one count of second degree criminal sexual conduct. R. 264-271. His case was called to trial on July 16, 2014 before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Kristie B. Hodge represented the state, and Alex R. Stalvey represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on July 17, 2014, the jury found Appellant guilty of one count of first degree CSC with a minor, one count of second degree CSC with a minor, and two counts of lewd act . The jury acquitted Appellant of the remaining five indictments. R. 247, l. 18 – 248, l.19. Judge Stilwell sentenced Appellant to life without parole for first degree CSC with a minor and for second degree CSC with a minor, and fifteen years concurrent for each count of lewd act.¹ R. 251, ll. 5-23.

This appeal follows.

¹ Before trial, the state served Appellant and his counsel with notice of its intent to seek life without parole (LWOP) due to Appellant's 1985 conviction for second degree criminal sexual conduct. R. 250, ll. 2-5.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Evidence at Trial

Appellant lived with his longtime girlfriend, Tammy Foster, and her two daughters, Older Sister and Younger Sister, from approximately 2004 until 2009. During this period, the family lived in three different houses in Greenville County. Tammy worked for the school district as a custodian and later for a nursing home. Appellant received disability benefits because he suffers from sickle cell anemia, arthritis, and carpal tunnel syndrome. R. 201, ll. 17-23. However, Appellant still worked odd jobs whenever he could and was paid “under the table.” R. 203, l. 22 – 204, l. 3. Between his disability benefits and the money he earned doing odd jobs, Appellant was a large financial contributor to the family.

Older Sister, who was twenty-six years old at the time of trial, testified that shortly after Appellant moved in with her family in 2003 when she was fifteen years old, he began making sexual comments to her.² For example, she claimed Appellant told her she “was getting thick,” which was a compliment and meant that her breasts and butt were getting bigger. Older Sister said this was not a comment you would normally hear from a stepfather. R. 21, ll. 8-24. In addition to the uncomfortable comments, Older Sister claimed Appellant began “groping” her. She maintained that he would touch her breasts, the front of her thighs, and her “bottom.” R. 20, l. 8 – 21, l. 2. According to Older Sister, eventually the sexual abuse progressed to oral sex and vaginal intercourse. R. 22, ll. 4-22; R. 25, ll. 8-10. She claimed the abuse continued until Appellant moved out of the family home in 2009

² The year Appellant began dating Tammy Foster and moved in with the family is disputed. Tammy and Older Sister claimed Appellant moved in sometime during 2003. R. 19, ll. 3-6; R. 81, ll. 16-17. Appellant, on the other hand, maintained he was not released from federal prison until June 23, 2004 and did not begin dating Tammy until that time. R. 200, l. 18 – 201, l. 4.

when she was twenty-one years old.³ R. 27, l. 24 – 28, l. 1. She also maintained that over one hundred sexual batteries occurred during this five to six year time period. R. 27, ll. 21-23.

Older Sister admitted Appellant paid for her cell phone, her car payments, and often gave her spending money on a weekly basis. Appellant helped financially support Older Sister until 2012 even though he ended his relationship with her mother, Tammy, and moved out in 2009. These allegations surfaced in June 2012 when Appellant caught Older Sister stealing four thousand dollars from him and called Tammy to complain. R. 42, l. 21 – 46, l. 9.

Younger Sister, who was nineteen years old at the time of trial, testified that when she was going into the sixth grade, which was a couple of years after her mother and Appellant began dating, Appellant began “fondling” her by touching her breasts.⁴ She claimed this sexual abuse quickly progressed to vaginal intercourse. R. 54, l. 21 – 57, l. 18.

Younger Sister also claimed that when she “wouldn’t let him [Appellant] take advantage of [her],” Appellant would “whup” her with a belt as punishment. R. 58, ll. 2-10. She testified that on one occasion when she was still in the fifth grade her mother came home and found Appellant “whupping” her.⁵ When her mother asked her why Appellant

³ Appellant was arrested in 2009 for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) after he and Older Sister allegedly got into a physical altercation. Appellant spent over a year in jail. This is essentially when his relationship with Tammy Foster ended. R. 27, l. 24 – 30, l. 5.

⁴ Younger Sister also testified that she thought she was ten years old when this abuse started. R. 57, ll. 11-12.

⁵ Younger Sister first testified that the sexual abuse started when she was going into the sixth grade. As seen, she later testified that she first disclosed the alleged abuse to her mother when she was still in the fifth grade. See R. 55, ll. 5-6 and R. 60, ll. 3-4.

was “whupping” her, Younger Sister told her mother that Appellant “had been molesting” her. R. 58, ll. 11-20; R. 60, ll. 3-4. However, her mother “just let it go” and continued to allow Appellant to live with them. R. 59, ll. 13-23. Younger Sister claimed that she never told anyone else about the alleged abuse because she thought “if my mom doesn’t believe me,” no one else will either. R. 60, ll. 21-24.

Younger Sister also testified that in September 2008 she had to have a physical to play basketball at school. When she went to the doctor for her physical, she tested positive for Trichomoniasis, a sexually transmitted disease (STD). She maintained that she was thirteen or fourteen years old at this time and had to take medication to treat the STD. The doctor asked Younger Sister in the presence of her mother, whether she was sexually active or whether “anyone [had] ever forced sex on [her].” She allegedly told the doctor “no.” R. 61, l. 17 – 63, l. 7. Younger Sister claimed that when she and her mother got home, her mother confronted Appellant about the diagnosis and the two got into an argument. However, Appellant continued to live in the home and date her mother. R. 64, l. 23 – 65, l. 5.

Like Older Sister, Younger Sister testified that Appellant would buy her “anything [she] needed,” including clothes. R. 66, ll. 6-7. Appellant eventually moved out of their house, but he and her mother continued dating. Younger Sister did not indicate when Appellant moved out. R. 65, ll. 11-21. She explained that it was not her idea to go to the police and report the allegations, but that they eventually did so after Older Sister was caught stealing money from Appellant. R. 67, l. 22 – 68, l. 11.

Tammy Foster, Older Sister and Younger Sister’s mother, testified that she began dating Appellant in 2003 and that he moved in with her and the girls shortly thereafter. R.

81, l. 14 – 82, l. 11. She said Appellant was home alone with the girls often when she was at work. R. 83, l. 22 – 84, l. 14. Tammy maintained that she and Appellant had a healthy and regular sexual relationship. R. 85, l. 1-10.

One day, Tammy remembered Older Sister called her at work and told her she needed to come home. When she got home, Younger Sister told her Appellant “had been touching us.” Younger Sister allegedly said Appellant “has been touching me, fondling me, sometimes he was having sexual relations with me.” R. 85, l. 22 – 86, l. 17. Tammy confronted Appellant about the allegations and he strongly denied it. R. 86, l. 23 – 87, l. 1. She admitted she was “afraid to believe it” and she continued to allow Appellant to live in the house. Tammy said “it was hard for [her] to believe that he [Appellant] would do something like this because we really loved each other.” R. 88, ll. 1-9.

Tammy also testified about Younger Sister’s physical for basketball and her Trichomoniasis diagnosis. She admitted she was in the room when the doctor asked Younger Sister about whether she was sexually active and Younger Sister denied it. R. 89, l. 12 – 90, l. 12. Tammy claimed when they got home from the doctor she confronted Appellant about the diagnosis and Appellant again denied sexually abusing Younger Sister. Appellant asked Tammy how he could have given Younger Sister an STD, but not given it to Tammy as well since he was obviously having sex with Tammy. Appellant supposedly said Younger Sister likely got the STD from a boyfriend. R. 90, l. 13 – 91, l. 15. Tammy testified that she believed Appellant and again continued to allow him to live with the family. R. 92, ll. 8-13.

Appellant eventually moved out in 2009 after he and Older Sister got into a physical altercation and Appellant went to jail. R. 94, ll. 6-9; R. 95, ll. 5-21. Tammy continued to see

Appellant even after he moved out. R. 96, ll. 1-3. She also knew that Older Sister continued to see him and was caught stealing money from him. They went to the police with these allegations shortly after Older Sister was caught stealing money from Appellant. R. 97, l. 3 – 99, l. 23.

Appellant later took the stand in his own defense. He denied having ever improperly touched Older Sister or Younger Sister or having sexual intercourse with either. R. 201, ll. 9-16. He testified that he was a large financial provider for the family and would give them all of his money. He signed over his entire disability check to Tammy every month and she often would not have her half of the money to help pay the bills. Appellant testified that he eventually “got tired of it” and moved out. R. 203, ll. 1-21. After he broke up with Tammy, he moved from Greenville to Spartanburg. However, Tammy, Older Sister, and Younger Sister would still drive up to visit him often. They would go out to eat when they visited and he continued to give them money. He cosigned a loan with Older Sister so that she could purchase a car and he helped her make the car payments.

Appellant and the family eventually had a falling out when Appellant caught Older Sister stealing four thousand dollars from his dresser drawer. R. 205, l. 1 – 206, l. 8; R. 212, ll. 4-7.

There was absolutely no physical evidence of sexual abuse presented by the state.

Jury Deliberations

The jury began its deliberations on July 17, 2014 at 3:55 pm. At 8:55 pm, the court gave the jury an Allen charge. See Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). Despite the late hour, the judge told the jury during this instruction that it would not be permitted to go home until a verdict was reached. R. 246, ll. 1-18. Specifically, the court stated:

I recognized that it is late. I didn't want to stay here this late and I know y'all didn't either. The problem is **I can't send you home** once you begin your deliberations except in very exceptional circumstances. Because if y'all were to go home while you were in your deliberations, there is the possibility that you might begin talking to your spouse or your significant other about it and that would be deliberating.

Also understand that if one of you, just one of you, failed to show up for court tomorrow then I would have to call a mistrial because we must have all twelve jurors. So, **we must stay, we must reach a verdict.** So, I ask you respectfully, please return to your jury room and continue trying to reach a verdict. Thank you.

R. 246, l. 19 – 247, l. 4 (emphasis added).

At 12:54 am, the jury finally reached a verdict after nearly nine hours of deliberating. The jury acquitted Appellant of five of the nine counts against him, but found him guilty of the remaining four counts. During deliberations, the jury sent out **eight** notes to the court. While these notes were included in the record as court's exhibits, there was no mention of them on the record nor did the court reporter indicate at what time these notes were sent out by the jury.

The first note asked, "Can we have the text testimony of witnesses: (1) Older Sister [and] (2) Younger Sister?" The court responded by writing on the note, "I do not have the ability, the technology, to produce a written transcript in this short time." R. 254. (Court's Exhibit No. 1). The second note asked, "What were the birthdays of both victims?" The court responded by writing on the note, "You must use your recollection of the testimony evidence." R. 255. (Court's Exhibit No. 2). The third note asked, "Can we use the whiteboard poster/easel with a marker to write with on paper?" The court responded by writing on the paper, "Yes." R. 256. (Court's Exhibit No. 3). **The fourth note asked, "If we cannot reach a unanimous decision on either counts what are our options?" The court responded by writing on the note, "You must reach a unanimous decision as to**

each charge. Please clarify your question if this is not responsive.” R. 257. (Court’s Exhibit No. 4).

The fifth note asked, “Can we take a smoke break or make a call?” There was no response from the court on this note. R. 258. (Court’s Exhibit No. 5). **The sixth note indicated, “We are at a road block and do not see any way around it. At this point we do not for see coming to an unanimous decision on all charges. Can we return a ‘hung jury’ on any one of the charges or all of the charges?”** The court responded by asking, **“Have you reached a unanimous verdict on any of the charges? If so, how many?”** The jury wrote back, **“0.”** R. 259-260. (Court Exhibit No. 6). It was presumably after this sixth note that the judge issued an Allen charge, but it is unclear from the record.

The seventh note read, “What were the reasons for the separation of dates for Younger Sister (2 counts)? (1) August 1, 2006 & January 3, 2009 [and] (2) January 4, 2009 & January 3, 2011.” The court responded by writing on the note, “The dates correspond to the allegations in the indictments. If you need further clarification, please specify.” R. 261-262. (Court’s Exhibit No. 7). The eighth and final note stated, “We have decided on 2 accounts [sic] & are trying very hard to move forward on the other 7.” The court did not have a written response to this note. R. 263. (Court’s Exhibit No. 8).

Galloway-Williams’ Proffered Testimony and the Objection

At defense counsel’s request, the court required the state to proffer Shauna Galloway-Williams’ testimony regarding her qualifications.

Galloway-Williams is the executive director of the Julie Valentine Center in Greenville, South Carolina. The center works with children and adults who have been impacted by sexual or physical abuse and neglect. R. 155, l. 13 – 156, l. 2. Galloway-

Williams is a licensed “professional mental health worker” in South Carolina and has a Bachelor’s Degree in psychology and a Master’s Degree in counseling. She testified that she has conducted more than seven hundred and fifty forensic interviews throughout her career and has counseled over eight hundred other children and adults. R. 156, ll. 3-18.

Throughout her career, Galloway-Williams has obtained more than one hundred and sixty hours of skill-based training and earned more than one hundred and twenty-five hours of continuing education credits. R. 157, ll. 3-9. She is also a member of several professional organizations, including the South Carolina Children’s Advocacy Centers, the Silent Tears Foundation, and the South Carolina Professional Society on the Needs of Children. R. 156, l. 19 – 157, l. 2.

Lastly, Galloway-Williams is a professor in the Child Advocacy Program at the University of South Carolina (USC) Upstate. She normally teaches a course called Child Maltreatment. R. 157, ll. 10-13. She also speaks or provides training at conferences. R. 157, ll. 13-17. She recently presented at a conference for the National Association of Attorneys General. R. 158, ll. 9-13.

Without being specific, Galloway-Williams maintained that her organization “participate[s] in a statewide peer review as well as a national peer review.” R. 157, ll. 21-22. She also claimed that she stays current with research, publications, and articles in the field. R. 158, ll. 16-18.

Moreover, Galloway-Williams testified that the topic of her testimony, including delayed disclosure and the response of non-offending caregivers, has been the subject of many articles published in professional journals and trade publications. She claimed these articles have been subjected to peer review and uniformly accepted and recognized by child

sex abuse experts and professionals. Counselors also rely on these principles when treating children who have been sexually abused. R. 160, ll. 11-23; R. 165, ll. 10-19.

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Galloway-Williams whether she could provide any specific examples of peer reviewed articles or other publications on delayed disclosure or the response of non-offending caregivers. She could not name **any** specific publications. She also could not name **any** studies that have looked into whether this subject or evidence is reliable. R. 167, ll. 10-17. However, she maintained that the textbook she uses for the Child Maltreatment course she teaches discusses both delayed disclosure and the response of non-offending caregivers. This textbook is called Child Maltreatment and was written by Stefanie Keen, one of the professors at USC Upstate. R. 167, ll. 17-22.

Galloway-Williams also testified that most of the research in the field is conducted by “asking survivors questions or asking those who have now disclosed.” R. 168, ll. 9-11. However, she admitted that the Julie Valentine Center does not track the number of the children or adults they see who have delayed a disclosure nor do they track the number of false allegations. R. 168, ll. 12-20; R. 170, l. 18-21.

At the conclusion of Galloway-Williams’ in-camera testimony, defense counsel argued she should not be qualified as an expert in child sexual abuse dynamics because her testimony (1) is not outside the realm of lay knowledge as required by Rule 702, SCRE and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010); (2) its probative value is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect to Appellant under Rule 403, SCRE; (3) its sole purpose is to bolster the complainants’ credibility, which is prohibited under State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), and (4) the subject matter of her testimony is unreliable. R. 174, l. 3 – 176, l. 5.

As to reliability, defense counsel argued that Galloway-Williams could not name or provide any studies or peer reviewed publications on the subject or did she discuss any methods that have been used to show this evidence is reliable. R. 174, l. 5 – 175, l. 2.

The Court's Ruling

The court held that the testimony was admissible. Judge Stilwell stated “that generally speaking the state of South Carolina has accepted that expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible in cases of this nature.” R. 177, ll. 12-14. Noting our Supreme Court’s holding in State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), the court concluded that Galloway-Williams’ testimony was not being offered “as a fact expert commenting on the credibility of the victims, but rather” her testimony was being offered to explain “delayed reporting and caregiver reporting.” The court found both of these topics to be “outside of the common knowledge generally in the public and the jury pool.” R. 177, ll. 17-22. Judge Stilwell also found the probative value of Galloway-Williams’ testimony outweighed the prejudicial effect to Appellant and thus there was no violation of Rule 403, SCRE. R. 177, ll. 14-16.

Moreover, the court stated:

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