ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Greenville County
The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001639

RECEIVED

SEP 29 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ROY LEE JONES,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St., MSQ-Q
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly qualified the State's witness as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics, and the subject matter of her testimony was outside the realm of a lay juror, was more probative than prejudicial, and was not offered to bolster the victims' credibility (Appellant's Issues I and II).

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in qualifying Galloway-Williams as an expert on child abuse dynamics because there was insufficient evidence of reliability, the subject matter of her testimony was within the realm of lay knowledge, and it was highly prejudicial because it improperly bolstered the victims' credibility. These issues were clearly resolved in recent cases, and are meritless.

A. Expert Qualification

Relying exclusively on State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 771 S.E.2d 336 (2015), Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in admitting Galloway-Williams' testimony because she was unable to identify or name a "single publication or study that supported her statements nor whether any of the articles, publications or studies she relied on had been peer reviewed," and thus, there was no evidence her conclusions and claims were accurate and reliable.¹ In making this assertion, Appellant grossly overstates the applicability of Chavis, and blatantly ignores evidence in the record.

In Chavis, the trial court qualified two witnesses (Elliott and Griggs) as experts in child abuse assessment. Elliott, who had significant training and experience with the RATAC protocol for forensic interviews, and conducted a forensic interview of the victim, testified it was her expert opinion the victim's disclosures reflected in a report

¹Appellant does not contend Galloway-Williams' qualifications, as reflected by her vast knowledge, experience and training, were insufficient.

issued by another forensic interviewer, who was unavailable to testify at trial, constituted disclosures of sexual abuse. 771 S.E.2d at 338-339.

The Supreme Court affirmed, with two justices finding Elliott was sufficiently trained in RATAC protocol, which she used during her forensic interviews, but there was no evidence her conclusions or impressions from those interviews were accurate, and therefore, the trial court erred in qualifying her as an expert. As to Griggs, who also conducted a forensic interview of the victim, the two justices assumed there was sufficient evidence of reliability as to her expert qualification, but held her testimony about recommending the victim not be around the defendant for any reason improperly bolstered the victim's credibility. *Id.* at 339-340. Ultimately, however, the two justices concluded both errors were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 340-341.²

Unlike the expert testimony at issue in Chavis, Galloway-Williams never interviewed the victims, Mother or law enforcement, and did not render any opinions or recommendations that could even remotely be regarded as specific to the victims, Mother, or the allegations against Appellant in this case. In fact, she never expressed any conclusions specific to the case at all. Therefore, the discussion of individual reliability referenced in Chavis simply does not apply to this case.

Even if evidence of individual reliability was required, however, there is ample evidence in the record regarding the basis for, and reliability of, Galloway-Williams' expert testimony. In addition to her indisputably extensive knowledge, education, training and experience in the area of assessing and treating child sex abuse victims,

²Two justices concurred in the result, but disagreed with the conclusions of error as to both Elliott and Griggs. *Id.* at 342-343 (Toal, CJ, concurring in part and dissenting in part). The fifth justice dissented, finding the errors were not harmless and the conviction should be reversed. *Id.* at 343-345 (Hearn, AJ, dissenting).

Galloway-Williams is a professor at USC-Upstate and teaches a college level course entitled Child Maltreatment. She testified the textbook she uses to teach the course includes citation to studies and articles on the issue of delayed disclosure by child victims, as well as issues related to non-offending caregivers. She also testified the Center conducts groups for non-offending caregivers who did not initially act to protect the child, and she recently participated in a conference on that issue. (TT, pp. 181-196; R., pp. 155-170)

The primary focus of Appellant's argument regarding reliability is Galloway-Williams' inability to recall from memory the citations to specific studies and articles regarding delayed disclosure and non-offending caregivers. This argument completely ignores her testimony regarding the textbook (discussed above), which is obviously a published authority. It also ignores her testimony about the specific methodology used in studies on the subjects, as well as the lack of any studies indicating all the studies supporting her testimony were unreliable. (TT, pp. 193-196; R., pp. 167-170). Considering her testimony in its entirety, it is clear Galloway-Williams' expert testimony was based on accepted principles in the field of child sex abuse assessment and treatment, and inherently reliable.³

³This type of expert testimony is recognized and admissible in numerous jurisdictions, and discussed in legal publications. See John E. B. Meyers, Expert Testimony in Child Sexual Abuse Litigation: Consensus and Confusion, 14 U.C. Davis J. Juv. L. & Pol'y 1, 45-46 (2010) ("[F]rom a psychological point of view, expert testimony about delay, inconsistency, and recantation is not controversial. From the legal perspective, such testimony is not worrisome." [footnotes omitted]); see also Elizabeth Trainor, Admissibility of Expert Testimony on Child Sexual Abuse Accommodation Syndrome (CSAAS) in Criminal Case, 85 A.L.R. 5th 595 §3 (Originally published in 2001) (discussion of testimony regarding general behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims and list of cases addressing the issue).

B. Necessity of Expert Testimony

Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims, and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts, is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault. State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct.App.1999). It assists the jury in understanding some of the aspects of victims' behavior, and provides insight into a sexually abused child's often strange demeanor. *Id.* See also State v. Anderson, 413 S.C. 212, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) ("Certainly we recognize that there is such an expertise [child abuse assessment]: this is the type of expert who can, for example testify to the behavioral characteristics of sex abuse victims.") (*citing State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 [1993]; Weaverling, and State v. White, 361 S.E. 407, 605 S.E.2d 540 [2004]); State v. Smith, 411 S.C. 161, 767 S.E.2d 212, 217-18 (Ct. App. 2015) (*cert. denied* June 17, 2015) ("When sexual abuse occurs, particularly if the victim is a child, the victim may not be able to immediately disclose the abuse for numerous reasons, including the victim's feelings of shame over what happened and the victim's fear of or intimidation by the perpetrator. We find this was an appropriately general explanation [by an expert witness] of the medical or scientific reasons a child might not immediately disclose sexual trauma.")

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, as expressly recognized by the Supreme Court in Anderson, the behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims is **not** a subject familiar to the common juror. Specifically in this case, based on responses to the court's questions during jury qualification, the seated jurors had no personal experience or

knowledge from family members or otherwise as to child sex abuse, directly or indirectly. (TT, pp. 17, 202; Supp. R., p. 1, R., p. 176).

In the absence of experience dealing with child sex abuse, it is unreasonable to think a lay person has sufficient knowledge regarding the impact of sex abuse on children and their behavior for even a basic understanding of how abused children may respond to the abuse and/or the perpetrator. It is equally unreasonable to think a lay person has sufficient knowledge of non-offender caregiver behavior to understand how they may respond in such situations. Indeed, much of victims' and caregivers' actions seem counter-intuitive to people who have never experienced the horror of sexual abuse. Therefore, an expert with specialized training and experience dealing with child sex abuse victims and non-offending caregivers, such as Galloway-Williams, can assist the jury in understanding their behavior, particularly a delay in disclosing the abuse, partial disclosures, and reasons why a non-offending caregiver may not act to protect a child victim.⁴ *See White*, 605 S.E.2d at 544 (expert testimony and behavioral evidence may be **more** crucial when the victims are children, whose inexperience and impressionability often render them unable to effectively articulate events giving rise to criminal sexual behavior); *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246, 250-251 (Ct. App. 2015) (*cert. denied* August 6, 2015) (expert testimony regarding common behavioral characteristic of sexual assault victims is helpful in explaining typical behavior patterns of adolescent sex abuse victims).

⁴A Texas court aptly described this type of testimony as "educator expert" evidence. *Coble v. State*, 330 S.W.3d 253 (Tx. Crim. App. 2010) (testimony about Texas prison classification system and prison violence was admissible as "educator-expert" evidence even though it did not relate to the defendant personally).

Galloway-Williams' testimony in this case is the type of expert behavioral testimony expressly approved in Schumpert, Weaverling, and White, cases Appellant does not even cite in his Brief. Despite Appellant's continued insistence the substance of her testimony was not outside the realm of ordinary lay jurors, a contention already soundly rejected by South Carolina courts, Galloway-Williams' testimony was relevant, and assisted the jury in understanding the evidence and determining a fact in issue. *See* Rule 702, SCRE (expert with specialized knowledge may testify if it will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue). Therefore, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in allowing her testimony.

C. Bolstering

Appellant also contends “the **only** purpose of Galloway-Williams’ testimony was to improperly bolster the [victims’] testimony. (Brief of Appellant, p. 20) (emphasis in original). As discussed above, however, the **only** purpose of Galloway-Williams’ testimony was to educate and assist the jury on issues unique to child sex abuse victims and their non-offending caregivers. Her testimony was couched in general terms, and never mentioned or alluded to the victims, Mother, or any allegations in the case.

All relevant evidence in some way bolsters the strength of the offering party’s case, and a trial court may not exclude evidence that bolsters other evidence absent a constitutional, statutory or rule-based principle of law providing for exclusion. State v. Perry, 410 S.C. 191, 763 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 2014) (Few, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part), (*cert. denied*, February 4, 2015). “Improper bolstering occurs when an expert witness is allowed to give his or her opinion as to whether the complaining witness is telling the truth, because that is an ultimate issue of fact and the inference to be drawn is not beyond the ken of the average juror.” State v. Taylor, 404 S.C. 506, 745 S.E.2d 124, 128 (Ct.App. 2013) (*quoting State v. Douglas*, 367 S.C. 498, 626 S.E.2d 59 [Ct.App.2006], *rev'd in part on other grounds*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 [2009]) (emphasis added). Generally, bolstering is prohibited to prevent a witness from testifying whether another witness is credible, which is exclusively within the province of the jury. *Id.*

Petitioner relies on Kromah, Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 689 S.E.2d 629 (2010), and State v. McKerley, 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E.2d 139 (Ct. App. 2012), as support for his contention Galloway-Williams’ testimony improperly bolstered the victims’ testimony.

Those cases involved forensic interviewers who actually interviewed the victims, and their testimony in some way indicated they believed the victims' allegations of sex abuse. Therefore, those cases are factually and legally inapplicable to the instant case. *See Brown*, 768 S.E.2d at 252-253 (finding these same cases were factually and legally distinguishable because the expert at issue was not a forensic interviewer, she did not interview the victims, prepare a report, express an opinion regarding the credibility of child sex abuse victims' allegations, or express an opinion regarding the victims in that case).

Similarly, Appellant's reliance on *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011), *State v. Dawkins*, 297 S.C. 386, 377 S.E.2d 298 (1989), and *State v. Dempsey*, 340 S.C. 565, 532 S.E.2d 306 (Ct. App. 2000), is misplaced. In *Jennings*, a report prepared by a forensic interviewer (Ms. Galloway-Williams) regarding her interviews of the victims was inadmissible hearsay, and impermissibly vouched for the victims' credibility by concluding the victims "provided a 'compelling disclosure of abuse.'" 716 S.E.2d at 94. Both *Dawkins* and *Dempsey* involved testimony from therapists who were actually treating the victims, and their testimony clearly indicated they believed the victims were telling the truth. *Dawkins*, 377 S.E.2d at 302 (therapist testified his impression was that victim's symptoms were genuine); *Dempsey*, 532 S.E.2d at 308-310 (therapist testified children alleging sexual abuse were truthful 95% to 99% of the time, and he concluded victim was reliable).

In this case, Galloway-Williams did not testify as a forensic interviewer, she never interviewed the victims or any other witness, did not prepare a report, and did not express any opinion or belief regarding the credibility of victims' allegations in general,

or these victims in particular. Therefore, the analysis and holdings in Jennings, Dawkins and Dempsey clearly do not apply to this case.

Appellant accuses the State of trying to circumvent recent case law (presumably Kromah and Jennings) “by presenting a witness who had **not met** with the [victims], but who was familiar with the case, and presumably the [victims’] testimony and specific allegations, as a result of discussions with the Solicitor’s Office.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 22) (emphasis in original). Ironically, in the face of this accusation, Appellant neither cites nor distinguishes Shumpert and Weaverling, which clearly apply to this case, and were not even cited in the Kromah and Jennings opinions, much less overruled. Indeed, the viability of Schumpert and Weaverling was recently reaffirmed in Anderson and Brown.

Brown, and Weaverling are factually and legally on point with this case. In Brown, the State presented Galloway-Williams as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics, and her testimony in that case was substantially the same as her testimony in this case. This Court affirmed, finding she was properly qualified as an expert, she never commented on the credibility of the victims, but only testified about general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims and non-offending caregivers, and her testimony did not improperly bolster the victims’ or Mother’s testimony. 768 S.E.2d at 252-253.⁵

⁵Appellant was “constrained” to acknowledge Brown, but noted a petition for writ of certiorari was pending in the Supreme Court, and asked this Court to reconsider Brown as it applied to this case. (Brief of Appellant, p. 23). This Court denied the petition for rehearing in Brown, and the Supreme Court denied the petition for writ of certiorari on August 6, 2015, thereby affirming this Court’s holding. Thus, Brown is good law directly on point with this case.

In Weaverling, again as in this case, the testifying expert on sexual abuse victims did not meet or interview the victim, her knowledge of the case was limited to discussions with the solicitor, and she did not testify specifically regarding the victim or the facts of the case. This Court held the expert testimony was properly admitted, finding it was relevant and simply explained the effect of molestation on a person's subsequent conduct, provided insight into a sexually abused child's often strange demeanor, and the fact the expert did not personally interview the victim goes to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility. 523 S.E.2d at 794.⁶

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